© Adis Data Information BV 2003. All rights reserved.

Child and Adolescent Suicide Epidemiology, Risk Factors, and Approaches to Prevention

Mirjami Pelkonen^{1,2} and Mauri Marttunen^{1,2}

1 Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research, National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, Finland

2 Department of Adolescent Psychiatry, Peijas Hospital, Hospital District of University of Helsinki, Vantaa, Finland

Contents

Ak	ostract
1.	Epidemiology of Child and Adolescent Suicides
	1.1 Age and Youth Suicides 244
	1.2 Secular Changes in Youth Suicide and Comparison Between Countries
2.	Risk Factors for Child and Adolescent Suicide
	2.1 Family-Related and Psychosocial Risk Factors
	2.2 Psychiatric Risk Factors
	2.3 Age-Related Factors Associated with Suicide
	2.4 Risk Factors for Adolescent Suicidal Ideation and Suicide Attempts
3.	Preventive Approaches
	3.1 Primary Prevention
	3.1.1 School-Based Programs
	3.1.2 Crisis Hotlines
	3.1.3 Restriction of Lethal Methods
	3.1.4 Media Education
	3.1.5 Identification of Adolescents at High Risk for Suicide
	3.2 Secondary Prevention
	3.2.1 Psychosocial Treatment of Depressive Disorders
	3.2.2 Biological Treatment of Depressive Disorders
	3.2.3 Overview
	3.3 Tertiary Prevention
	3.3.1 Psychosocial Treatment
	3.3.2 Biological Treatment
	3.4 Postvention
4.	Conclusions

Abstract

Suicide is rare in childhood and early adolescence, and becomes more frequent with increasing age. The latest mean worldwide annual rates of suicide per 100 000 were 0.5 for females and 0.9 for males among 5–14-year-olds, and 12.0 for females and 14.2 for males among 15–24-year-olds, respectively. In most countries, males outnumber females in youth suicide statistics. Although the rates vary between countries, suicide is one of the commonest causes of death among young people. Due to the growing risk for suicide with increasing age, adolescents are the main target of suicide prevention. Reportedly, less than half of young people who have committed suicide had received psychiatric care, and thus broad prevention strategies are needed in healthcare and social services. Primary care clinicians are key professionals in recognizing youth at risk for suicide.

This article reviews recent population-based psychological autopsy studies of youth suicides and selected follow-up studies of clinical populations and suicide attempters, analyzing risk factors for youth suicides. As

youth suicides are rare, research on risk factors for youth suicidal ideation and attempted suicide is also briefly reviewed.

The relationship between psychiatric disorders and adolescent suicide is now well established. Mood disorders, substance abuse and prior suicide attempts are strongly related with youth suicides. Factors related to family adversity, social alienation and precipitating problems also contribute to the risk of suicide. The main target of effective prevention of youth suicide is to reduce suicide risk factors. Recognition and effective treatment of psychiatric disorders, e.g. depression, are essential in preventing child and adolescent suicides. Research on the treatment of diagnosed depressive disorders and of those with suicidal behavior is reviewed.

In the treatment of youth depression, psychosocial treatments have proved to be useful and efficacious. Although studies on the effectiveness of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors are limited in number, evidence supports their use as first-line antidepressant medication in youth depression. Available evidence suggests that various treatment modalities are useful in the treatment of suicidal youths, e.g. cognitive behavioral therapy and specialized emergency room interventions. Much of the decrease in suicide ideation and suicide attempts seems to be attributable to nonspecific elements in treatment. For high-risk youth, providing continuity of care is a challenge, since they are often noncompliant and commonly drop out or terminate their treatment prematurely. Developing efficacious treatments for suicidal children and adolescents would offer better possibilities to prevent suicides.

Completed suicides are a major health problem among young people. In particular, high suicide rates among adolescent males have prompted growing public concern. Although the rates vary between countries, in Europe and many other Western countries suicide is one of the leading causes of death among young people. For example, in Finland in 2000, completed suicide was the leading cause of death among 15–19-year-old males; 34% of all deaths of males in this age group were suicides.^[1]

Although completed suicides are rare in children and young adolescents, they become increasingly frequent with increasing age.^[2,3] Due to the growing risk for suicide with increasing age, adolescents can be regarded as the main target of suicide prevention among young people. The prevalences of suicide attempts,^[4] as well as those of mental disorders,^[5,6] are higher in adolescence than in childhood.

Research on risk factors for youth suicide provides the basis for suicide prevention. Primary prevention of such rare events as youth suicide faces several problems, and the effectiveness of preventive efforts in schools, social services and primary health-care has been questioned.^[7] Since most young people who commit suicide have experienced psychiatric disorders,^[8-11] early recognition and effective treatment of these disorders are key issues in the prevention of youth suicide.

In suicide research, suicidal ideation is defined as one's wish or threat to die, suicide attempt/parasuicide is defined as any self-injurious behavior with a nonfatal outcome irrespective of intention, and suicide as cause of death on a death certificate.^[12] This article first briefly reviews the epidemiology of completed suicide among children and adolescents. Research on risk factors for child and adolescent suicides is reviewed. As youth suicide is a rare phenomenon, research on risk factors for youth suicidal ideation and attempted suicide is also briefly reviewed. Then, primary preventive approaches are reviewed. Depressive disorders are among the most important psychiatric disorders associated with youth suicides, but they are under-recognized and under-treated.^[13,14] This paper therefore reviews controlled treatment studies of child and adolescent depressive disorders. Finally, since adolescents with a history of suicidal ideation or suicide attempts are at particularly high risk for suicide,^[15,16] research on the effects of interventions aiming at reducing further suicidal behavior in these individuals are reviewed.

1. Epidemiology of Child and Adolescent Suicides

1.1 Age and Youth Suicides

A direct relationship exists between age and the incidence of suicide in children, adolescents and young adults. According to the WHO statistics,^[2] the mean worldwide (104 countries reporting their mortality data) annual rates of suicide per 100 000 in 1995 (or the latest available year) were 0.5 for females and 0.9 for males in the age group 5–14 years. The respective rates among 15–24-year-olds were 12.0 for females and 14.2 for males. Figure 1, based on Finnish suicide mortality data,^[1] demonstrates the sharp rise of suicide rates during the adolescent years.

There is little empirical data to explain the sharp rise in suicides during adolescence. Children may be protected from suicide due to the lack of cognitive maturity required to plan a successful suicidal act and to develop feelings of despair or hopelessness.^[17] Those



Fig. 1. 10-year average suicide mortality in Finland by age group during 1991–2000.

who committed suicide while children and early adolescents have reportedly been physically and cognitively precocious.^[18] It has been suggested that the family provides social and emotional support, reduces social isolation and thereby protects children from suicide. Adolescents' increasing self-consciousness and growing drive for individuation is likely to weaken support from family, school and other support systems.^[18] Developmental factors, such as rapid psychological, biological and social changes may make adolescents vulnerable to environmental stress.^[19,20] The complex organization of genetic, psychological, and environmental developmental domains and risk factors may contribute to psychopathology in adolescence.^[20-23] Furthermore, the higher prevalence rates of mental disorders in adolescence than in children are mainly due to increasing rates of depression and substance abuse,^[5,6] both well known risk factors for youth suicide. Recent longitudinal studies have shown that emotional and behavioral disturbances, and exposure to adverse life events during adolescence, have predictive impact for subsequent psychiatric disorders, psychosocial impairment, suicidal ideation, suicide attempts and suicides.^[23-25]

1.2 Secular Changes in Youth Suicide and Comparison Between Countries

During the last decade, youth suicide rates have increased in several European countries, New Zealand, and Australia, and most of the increase is due to more young men committing suicide.^[3,26-28] In England and Wales, an increase in suicide rates for males aged 15–19 years between the 1970s and the 1990s was reported, whereas no major increase among 10–14-year-olds was found.^[3] In Sweden, the previously observed rise in suicide rates among young males stabilized at the end of the 1970s, and

remained at the same level during the 1990s.^[29] In the US, a 3-fold increase occurred in suicide rates among 15–19 year-olds between the early 1960s and late 1980s, but since 1994 male suicide rates have declined.^[30] In Finland, a country with particularly high and rising rates of youth suicide until 1991, an approximately 20% decline had taken place by 1998.^[1]

The background of such secular changes in youth suicide rates is largely unknown, but it has been suggested that the decline in the rates of youth suicides is due to restriction of the availability of lethal methods, e.g. firearms,^[31] and better treatment of depression.^[32,33]

There are large variations in youth suicide rates between countries. Table I gives 2-year averages of suicide rates per 100 000 of the population among 15–19 year-olds from selected countries reporting their statistics to the WHO.^[2] In most countries, young males outnumber females in suicides, but in some countries such as China rates of female suicide are comparable or higher than those of males.^[2] Suicide research in Asia is scarce. Recent evidence suggests that the psychiatric risk factors for suicide are the same as in Western countries.^[34] However, the findings from China also seem to support a cultural explanation, such as a lower social status in Chinese women than in Chinese men.^[35]

The rates for young males are high in the Baltic Countries, Russian Federation, New Zealand and Finland. Probably the variation between countries is partly explained by social and cultural factors and alcohol consumption, as well as by attitudes toward suicide.^[36,37] Disparities in the classification of suicide (i.e. listing suicide as the cause of death on death certificates) may also contribute to the international variation. The reliability of international suicide data is generally considered to be high; however, the influences of varying data collection procedures have to be taken into account in interpreting the findings.^[38]

2. Risk Factors for Child and Adolescent Suicide

For effective prevention, knowledge of the key risk factors for suicide is essential. Psychiatric suicide research has studied the relationships between suicide and psychiatric disorders, and identified risk factors related to mental disorders and to biological, familial, and situational factors. The most important and widely accepted method of research on risk factors for suicide is studying nonselected and representative samples of suicides by using the psychological autopsy. It is a procedure for retrospectively reconstructing the life history, behavior and social and psychological features of the deceased, as well as the events preceding the suicide, by interviews with key persons who knew the deceased. Usually, data from different records are also collected.^[39,40] The general methodological problems of psychological autopsy in-

246

		· · ·						
Country	Year 1			Year 2			Mean of 2	years
	year	males	females	year	males	females	males	females
Albania	1998	9.4	10.9	1997	8.1	6.5	8.8	8.7
Armenia	1999	1.6	0.0	1997	1.1	0.0	1.4	0.0
Australia	1998	16.3	5.6	1997	18.7	5.2	17.5	5.4
Austria	2000	19.3	5.1	1999	17.8	4.7	18.6	4.9
Azerbaijan	1999	0.3	0.3	1998	0.0	0.3	0.2	0.3
Belarus	1999	20.6	6.2	1998	22.1	4.9	21.4	5.6
Belgium	1995	12.1	5.6	1994	17.0	1.3	14.6	3.5
Bosnia and Herzegovina	1991	19.5	3.8	1990	10.6	3.3	15.1	3.6
Bulgaria	1998	10.7	4.2	1997	13.0	4.8	11.9	4.5
Canada	1997	19.8	5.5	1996	18.4	4.2	19.1	4.9
China: selected urban and rural	1998	3.5	5.6	1997	4.2	7.2	3.9	6.4
China: selected rural	1999	4.3	7.1	1998	4.8	8.5	4.6	7.8
China: selected urban	1999	2.1	2.4	1998	2.2	2.7	2.2	2.6
Croatia	1999	18.8	5.9	1998	16.5	4.7	17.7	5.3
Czech Republic	1999	12.5	3.1	1998	10.4	3.0	11.5	3.1
Denmark	1996	8.2	2.6	1995	9.1	1.3	8.7	2.0
Estonia	1999	35.1	11.4	1998	22.4	3.8	28.8	7.6
Finland	1998	23.2	5.6	1997	25.2	5.6	24.2	5.6
France	1998	7.9	2.6	1997	7.2	3.1	7.6	2.9
Georgia	1992	5.4	1.7	1991	3.2	1.7	4.3	1.7
Germany	1999	9.4	2.4	1998	9.5	3.2	9.5	2.8
Greece	1998	1.1	0.6	1997	3.4	0.3	2.3	0.5
Hungary	2000	10.9	3.2	1999	13.4	3.0	12.2	3.1
Iceland	1996	18.5	9.6	1995	18.7	0.0	18.6	4.8
Ireland	1997	17.0	4.2	1996	14.9	5.4	16.0	4.8
Italy	1997	4.8	1.4	1996	5.5	1.5	5.2	1.5
Japan	1997	6.9	2.8	1996	6.6	3.0	6.8	2.9
Kazakhstan	1999	32.0	9.4	1998	29.4	11.1	30.7	10.3
Kyrgyzstan	1999	14.3	4.4	1998	15.0	5.5	14.7	5.0
Latvia	1999	16.6	4.6	1998	27.5	7.1	22.1	5.9
Lithuania	1999	34.5	11.4	1998	22.4	9.2	28.5	10.3
Luxembourg	2000	0.0	0.0	1999	16.4	0.0	8.2	0.0
Macedonia	1997	2.3	3.7	1996	1.2	3.7	1.8	3.7
Netherlands	1999	5.5	3.5	1998	6.3	2.2	5.9	2.9
New Zealand	1998	28.0	19.8	1997	38.3	14.4	33.2	17.1
Norway	1997	15.5	6.2	1996	12.5	7.7	14.0	7.0
Poland	1996	14.5	2.8	1995	14.2	2.9	14.4	2.9
Portugal	1999	1.1	1.8	1998	2.8	0.9	2.0	1.4

 Table I. 2-year average suicide rates among 15–19-year-old adolescents per 100 000 of the population in selected countries^[2]

Continued next page

Country	Year 1			Year 2			Mean of 2	years
	year	males	females	year	males	females	males	females
Republic of Moldova	1999	8.8	4.8	1998	5.5	1.8	7.2	3.3
Romania	1999	7.5	2.9	1998	5.7	2.6	6.6	2.8
Russian Federation	1998	34.0	8.5	1997	35.0	8.5	34.5	8.5
Slovak Republic	1999	8.2	1.4	1997	7.6	2.2	7.9	1.8
Slovenia	1999	15.1	5.8	1998	32.1	8.4	23.6	7.1
Spain	1998	4.4	1.2	1997	5.4	2.0	4.9	1.6
Sweden	1996	8.5	3.2	1995	10.3	3.6	9.4	3.4
Switzerland	1996	14.6	3.6	1995	15.7	7.2	15.2	5.4
Tajikistan	1995	5.2	2.1	1994	3.5	1.4	4.4	1.8
Turkmenistan	1998	16.6	8.8	1997	20.0	10.3	18.3	9.6
Ukraine	2000	19.6	4.9	1999	17.6	4.3	18.6	4.6
UK	1999	6.5	1.8	1998	6.0	2.1	6.3	2.0
USA	1998	14.6	2.9	1997	15.2	3.4	14.9	3.2
Uzbekistan	1995	7.6	3.0	1994	8.5	4.2	8.1	3.6

Table I. Contd

clude the possibility of incomplete and biased information and difficulties in the assessment of psychopathology of the individuals. However, interviewing several informants, using structured interviews to elicit psychiatric symptoms, and using explicit diagnostic criteria have reportedly increased the accuracy of the assessment of psychopathology.^[39-41]

In population-based studies using psychological autopsy, the prevalence of rare psychiatric disorders, such as psychotic disorders, has been low. Follow-up studies of child and adolescent psychiatric patients and suicide attempters provide data to confirm the associations between suicide and risk factors found in psychological autopsy studies.^[42,43] Data collection procedures, characteristics of the samples and the definitions of psychiatric disorders in the various chart-based studies may, however, vary and have to be taken into account in interpreting the findings.^[12] The following sections review the most important research on risk factors for suicide in children and adolescents. Our main focus is in identifying risk factors for suicide. However, adolescent suicide is a rare phenomenon, and therefore research on risk factors for suicidal ideation and suicide attempts is briefly reviewed.

2.1 Family-Related and Psychosocial Risk Factors

Population-based psychological autopsy studies of adolescent suicides have reported parental divorce in approximately half of the individuals' families.^[8-10,15,44-46] Family history of suicide or suicide attempt has varied between 2% and 30%.^[8-10,15,44-46] Parental mental problems (in 15–47%) and substance abuse (16–35%) are also common.^[9,10,15,44,45,47]

In line with findings in psychological autopsy studies, followup studies of child and adolescent patients and suicide attempters have found a family history of substance abuse and mental disorders or problems to be associated with death by suicide.^[24,48-51] One follow-up study of adolescent male outpatients reported familial disturbance in terms of weakened parental support in 63% of those deceased during a 6-year follow-up.^[52]

In the few controlled psychological autopsy studies of representative samples of children and adolescents having committed suicide,^[46,53,54] the individuals were more likely than controls to come from a non-intact family of origin (table II). The familyrelated psychosocial factors increasing the risk for suicide were poor communication with mother and father, family history of suicidal behavior, and parental problems with the police.^[53,54] Family history of depression and substance abuse, and lifetime history of parent-child discord, were also associated with adolescent suicide.^[46] Parental suicidal behavior has been reported to be common in youth suicides. In a sophisticated study on this issue, Brent et al.^[55] found that the rates of suicide attempts, but not suicidal ideation, were increased among first-degree relatives of adolescent suicides compared with the relatives of community controls, independent of familial psychiatric disorders. Thus, liability to suicidal behavior might be familially transmitted as a trait, and the transmitted spectrum of suicidal behaviors might include both attempted and completed suicides.

Individual psychosocial risk factors for young suicides include recent disciplinary crisis, interpersonal loss and school problems.^[53,54] Interestingly, one study found that children and adolescents neither working nor in school were at a particularly high risk

Risk factor	Odds ratio
Family related factors	
Non-intact family origin	1.8–3.1
Poor communication with mother	4.3
Poor communication with father	4.0
Parent-child discord	5.1
Parental psychopathology	
Family history of depression	11.0
Family history of substance abuse	10.4
Father had trouble with police	4.0
Family history of suicidal behavior	4.6
Stressful (negative) life events	
Disciplinary crisis	5.1
Interpersonal loss	1.9 (males 2.6)
School/work problems	
Failed a grade	3.3
Suspended from school	6.1
Dropped out of school	5.1
Neither working nor in school	44.1

Table II. Psychosocial risk factors for adolescent completed suicide in controlled psychological autopsy studies^[46,53,54]

for suicide, supporting the evidence of the marked role of social isolation and alienation in suicide.^[53]

2.2 Psychiatric Risk Factors

Psychological autopsy studies have reported mental disorders in 81-95% of child and adolescent suicides (table

 Table III. Psychiatric risk factors for adolescent completed suicide in psychological autopsy studies^[8-10,15,44,45,47,56]

Risk factor	Frequency	Gender	Odds rat	tio	
	(%)	ratio	males	females	all
Any psychiatric diagnosis	81–95	M = F	ND	ND	35
Psychiatric comorbidity	51–81	M = F?	ND	ND	ND
Mood disorder	49–76	M < F	10–11	17–25	14–20
Major depression	23–54	M < F	15–16	29	27
Substance abuse	0–62	M > F	7–13	13	5–13
Conduct/disruptive	5–46	M > F?	4–6	2–3	3–6
behavior disorder					
Schizophrenic psychosis	3–7	M = F	ND	ND	ND
Personality disorder	29–32	M = F?	ND	ND	ND
Anxiety disorders	4–27	M = F?	3–11	0.7–3	2–6
Adjustment disorder	0–21	M > F?	ND	ND	ND
Previous suicide attempt	5–40	M < F	28–34	119	49
F = female; M = male; NE) = no data	; ? = unc	ertain.		

III).^[8-10,15,44,45,47,56] Studies comparing young suicides with general population controls have estimated that the risk for suicide in young people having a psychiatric disorder ranges from odds ratio (OR) 12 to OR 35.^[8,16,57]

Approximately 50–75% of children and adolescents who commit suicide have had a mood disorder, most commonly major depression.^[58] Mood disorders and prior suicide attempts seem to be more common among young females, whereas antisocial disorders tend to be more prevalent among males.^[15,31,59] About onequarter to two-thirds of adolescents who commit suicide have received a diagnosis of substance abuse or dependence.^[9,10] Substance misuse, not fulfilling the diagnostic criteria of substance abuse or dependence, is also associated with adolescent suicides.^[60] Schizophrenic psychoses and personality disorders have been diagnosed more commonly in young adult suicides than in adolescent suicides,^[8,10,11,61] whereas disruptive disorders and adjustment disorders have been more prevalent among younger individuals.^[10,15,57,62]

Disruptive disorders seem to convey a 3–6-fold increased risk for suicide in youth.^[8,15,54] In a recent study,^[63] adolescents with disruptive disorders committing suicide had higher rates of current substance abuse, past suicide attempts, a family history of substance abuse and mood disorders than did living controls with disruptive disorder. Disruptive adolescents appear thus to be at particular risk for suicide when they have a history of previous suicide attempts and comorbid substance abuse. Behavior problems and symptom clusters not fulfilling the diagnostic criteria of conduct disorder are also common among child and adolescent suicides, being reported in 43–73% of those who commit suicide, often in combination with depressive symptoms and/or substance abuse.^[19,45,56] Problems with the law and court sentences are also over-represented among youth suicides (16–28%),^[11,44,64,65] as well as running away.^[15]

Psychiatric comorbidity is common among young people who commit suicide (51–81%).^[8-10,15,44,45,47,56] The impact of comorbid conditions on suicide risk is complex and thus far little studied. In one study,^[8] substance abuse in the presence of a coexisting mood disorder conveyed a much higher risk of suicide (OR 17.0) than in the absence of a mood disorder (OR 3.3), whereas anxiety disorders were risk factors only when comorbid with mood disorders (OR 7.0). Interestingly, conduct disorder comorbid with a mood disorder was associated with lower risk (OR 2.5) than was noncomorbid conduct disorder (OR 12.0), suggesting that conduct disorder may be a risk factor for child and adolescent suicide independent of mood disorders.

About one-third of young people who commit suicide have a history of prior attempts and up to two-thirds of children and adolescents who commit suicide have verbally communicated their suicidal intent.^[8,10,44,47,66] In controlled studies the risk for suicide has been estimated to be about 30-fold higher among youth with a suicide attempt history compared with those without previous attempts.^[15,16]

Follow-up studies of child and adolescent psychiatric patients and suicide attempters provide complementary data on risk factors that are rare in nonclinical populations, e.g. bipolar disorder and other psychotic disorders. Generally, higher than expected overall and suicide mortality has been observed in children and adolescents with these disorders, with the proportion of suicides varying from less than 1% to almost 8%.^[24,48-52,67-82] This large variation in suicide mortality probably reflects different characteristics of the initial patient samples and varying follow-up times. Risk factors for eventual suicide have been comparable with those reported in psychological autopsy studies. In line with findings in psychological autopsy studies, most follow-up studies report that depressive and antisocial disorders, aggressive behavior, substance abuse and dependence, previous suicide-spectrum behaviors, severity or prolonged course of psychiatric disorder and previous inpatient status are commonly associated with suicide during the followup.^[24,48,69,71,76] As might be expected, associations between psychotic disorders and suicide have been more common among child and adolescent psychiatric patients^[24,48,50,68,69,74,83] and suicide attempters^[71,79] compared with findings in nonclinical populations, and some studies show the particular importance of bipolar disorder.^[24,69] One study on adolescent outpatients found that only males (7.1% of 156) had committed suicide during a 6-year follow-up.^[52] Current suicidal behavior, poor psychosocial functioning and a recommendation for psychiatric hospitalization at baseline were associated with suicide,^[52] reflecting the importance of severity and protracted course of disorder to outcome.

2.3 Age-Related Factors Associated with Suicide

Factors associated with suicide by age have been studied in three psychological autopsy studies on adolescents who have committed suicide under age 20 years,^[10,15,31] and in a comprehensive record-based study on child and adolescent suicides.^[84] The cut-off age between younger versus older suicides has been 15,^[84] 16,^[31] and 17 years.^[10,15] In general, the frequencies of any psychiatric disorder, particularly substance abuse and conduct disorder, as well as prior suicide attempts, have been more common in the older than younger adolescents (table IV). Mood disorders comorbid with substance abuse lead to an over 50-fold risk for suicide among older adolescents,^[31] and the proportion of alcoholor drug-positive individuals has been greater in older adolescents.^[31] Somewhat surprisingly, the prevalence of adjustment

Table	IV.	Risk	factors	for	suicide	in	'younger	ver	sus	'older'	ad	oles-
cents[1	0,15,3	1,84]	(reprodu	ced	from	Ma	rttunen	and	Pel	konen, [[]	58]	with
permis	sion)										

Risk factor	Younger a	dolescents	Older adol	escents
	frequency (%)	odds ratio	frequency (%)	odds ratio
Family related factors and	stressors			
Non-intact family of origin	47–61	3	47–61	3
Conflict with parent	29–51	6	7–30	2
Conflict with boy/girlfriend	0–9	6	32–42	3
Legal or disciplinary problems	14–31	2	13–38	6
Psychiatric factors				
Any psychiatric disorder	43–83	6	79–95	25
Mood disorder	29–57	20–24	48–64	7–20
Substance abuse	6–18	4	31–48	15
Conduct disorder	14–36	3–6	18–52	6–7
Anxiety disorders	23–31	8	11–25	3
Adjustment disorder	6–17		8–28	
Alcohol intoxication at time of suicide	0–3		38–51	
Previous suicide attempt	0–36	36	27–43	4–76

disorders was higher among younger individuals in one sample,^[15] but lower in another.^[10]

The higher risk for suicide among older children and adolescents may be attributed to the higher prevalence of psychopathology.^[31,84] Psychopathology may not only be more prevalent but also convey a higher risk for suicide among older adolescents,^[31] but the finding is not consistent.^[84] As might be expected, parentchild conflicts seem to be more prevalent among younger, and romantic disappointments more common in older, adolescent suicides (table IV).

2.4 Risk Factors for Adolescent Suicidal Ideation and Suicide Attempts

As youth suicides are rare, much of the knowledge on risk factors is based on studies of other suicide-spectrum behaviors, including suicidal ideation or threats and suicide attempts/parasuicides. Due to variations in the definitions, sample characteristics, and lack of accurate statistics, the prevalence rates of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts are difficult to estimate. However, it has been estimated that up to 25% of young people have had suicidal ideation, and approximately 2–12% have attempted suicide at some time in their lives.^[12,85] Schmidtke et al.^[86] reported a mean rate of suicide attempts in 13 European countries, assessed by healthcare professionals, of 168 per 100 000 population for

males and 283 per 100 000 for females in the age group of 15–24 years. In the following paragraphs, the main risk factors for suicidal ideation, as well as suicide attempts, are briefly reviewed. For more comprehensive recent reviews, see Gould and Kramer^[33] and Beautrais.^[85]

The family environments of youth with suicidal ideation have reportedly been more troubled compared with those of nonsuicides.^[87] In a longitudinal study,^[88] family violence, combined with family arguements, was a risk factor for both genders; however, its impact was greater for the males, whereas the females with suicidal ideation perceived themselves as less valued by their family members. Furthermore, early onset of psychiatric disorders was a risk factor for adolescent suicidal ideation for both genders, as well as preschool dependence and anxiety for the males, and aggressive and hyperactive preschool behavior for the females. Family-related risk factors in adolescent suicide attempters have included disadvantageous childhood circumstances,^[89-91] not living with both parents,^[92] low level of parental support,^[93] frequent geographic moving,^[94] and exposure to sexual abuse.^[95]

As for completed suicide, psychiatric disorders, especially mood disorders, are among the most significant risk factors for suicidal ideation and suicide attempts.^[88,90,96-98] Substance use disorders seem to be more strongly associated with suicide attempts than with suicidal ideation.^[35] Previous suicidal ideation has been reported to predict subsequent suicide attempts.^[12,88] The continuum from milder to more severe forms of suicide-spectrum behaviors seems not to be as well established in nonclinical populations.^[12,89] as in clinical populations.^[44,99]

3. Preventive Approaches

Suicide prevention has been identified as an increasingly important area of public health, and recommendations or guidelines for developing and implementing strategies to decrease the rates of vouth suicides are available.^[27,30,33,100,101] Comprehensive national strategies, in which activities are multifaceted and integration between components is planned, have been developed in New Zealand, Norway, Australia, Sweden and Finland.^[102] The strategy being implemented in Finland had four stages commencing with a research project using psychological autopsy methods. Information on completed suicides was assessed using content analysis and a prevention strategy developed from empirical data and expert advice. Target areas were identified, and subsequent implementation was conducted. In addition, continued monitoring of the implementation and effectiveness of interventions were used.^[102-104] In New Zealand, a nongovernmental organization has been developed for planning, consultation and implementation.^[102] The Netherlands and Great Britain have specific nationwide programs aiming at single targets, and in addition, the US, France, and Estonia have some national programs.^[102] Research evidence of the efficacy of such preventive programs in reducing suicide rates is, however, still preliminary.^[100] In Finland, youth suicide mortality declined by over 20% from 1990–1998, probably due to better treatment of depression^[32] and actions to prevent suicides launched throughout the country.^[103]

Few preventive efforts for children and adolescents have been scientifically evaluated thus far. Primary prevention includes programs in educational settings. It seems that effective prevention strategies for child and adolescent suicide should consist of identification and appropriate treatment of those at risk, e.g. those with depression (secondary prevention), and particularly those at high risk, e.g. suicide attempters (tertiary prevention).^[30]

3.1 Primary Prevention

3.1.1 School-Based Programs

One of the most popular approaches has been to focus on high school students' suicide awareness.^[105] Such programs, as well as indirect case-finding programs through education, have aimed to increase disturbed adolescents' help-seeking behavior. However, controlled studies have found that these programs have no significant impact.^[106-108] It seems that suicide awareness programs may also have detrimental effects, including an increase in positive attitudes towards suicide^[7] and negative reactions among students with a history of suicidal behavior.^[109] Due to the limitations of school-based suicide awareness curriculum programs, more emphasis has been paid to interventions aiming at skills training, such as enhancing coping skills, self-esteem, problem-solving and communication skills.^[33] In school settings, it seems advisable to implement more general programs focusing on skills training or training in the development of coping strategies rather than focusing on issues dealing with suicidal behavior. Thus, the research evidence indicates that concern over disturbed adolescents with real or assumed risk for suicidal behavior should not lead to the implementation in school settings of any program for which scientific evidence of efficacy in preventing youth suicidal behavior is lacking.

3.1.2 Crisis Hotlines

Crisis hotlines are widely available for people with suicidal thoughts. Yet, evidence of their impact in reducing rates of completed suicide is equivocal.^[33] They may be helpful, but it seems that hotlines do not reach those young people, e.g. adolescent males, in greatest need of personal help. There are reports that disturbed adolescents prefer to turn to other adolescents, not adults, parents or professionals, when in need of help.^[33,110]

3.1.3 Restriction of Lethal Methods

Methods used in suicide vary by gender and nation. A large international survey of suicides among 15-24 year-olds found that 34% of the suicides were firearm-related.^[111] Based on the lethality and common use of firearms in male youth suicides, it has been suggested that reducing firearm availability would reduce incidence of suicide,^[31] yet evidence of its effectiveness has been contradictory.^[30] It has been reported that in countries where firearms are widely available, lower rates of youth suicides have been found after the restriction of gun availability.^[112,113] On the other hand, others have reported less hopeful effects.^[33,114] There are, however, promising findings on the impact of parental education in the emergency department to limit access to firearms.^[115] Restriction of the availability of drugs, commonly used by females in overdoses, has also been recommended by researchers.^[116] Limitations of this approach are the difficulty to restrict many methods (e.g. hanging, drowning, intake of liquids and solids), and the possibility of method substitution.[117,118]

3.1.4 Media Education

Current evidence suggests that an increase in suicides follows after suicide stories in the mass media.^[33] Findings that following a youth suicide the number of suicides is increased beyond that expected among the individuals' friends^[119,120] suggest that suicide clustering is a real phenomenon among youth. However, factors that initiate such suicide outbreaks are largely unknown. Recommendations for journalists and healthcare professionals when reporting suicides have been developed. Recommendations for media generally include descriptions of factors to be avoided (e.g. front page coverage) and suggestions how to increase the usefulness of the report (e.g. describing treatment resources).^[3,30] Health care professionals are recommended to assist media professionals towards responsible and accurate reporting. Instead of focusing on the individual cases, scientifically established information about risk factors for youth suicidal behavior should be provided. It has been suggested that suicide contagion may be reduced by responsible reporting.^[30]

3.1.5 Identification of Adolescents at High Risk for Suicide

Although the vast majority of children and adolescents who commit suicide have had mental problems, and previous suicidal behavior is common, only about 20–50% of individuals have received psychiatric care, and remarkably few (5–20%) were in psychiatric care at the time of suicide.^[58] Even in adolescents with a prior suicide attempt, only one-third to one-half have received psychiatric care.^[54,66] Moreover, one study found that within 1 year prior to the suicide, 44% of the females, but only 18% of the males, had been in contact with psychiatric care.^[66]

In a chart-based retrospective follow-up study in the UK, Appleby et al.^[121] found that regardless of increasing number of general practitioner visits before adolescent suicides, significant suicide risk assessments were not noted in the final visits. Similar findings of people who commit suicide not communicating their suicide intent to professionals have been reported in a nationwide study of suicides in Finland.^[122] A recent case-control study by Barnes et al.^[123] reported that prior to nearly lethal suicide attempts, young people had sought help more often from peers and family than from professionals compared with general population controls. Hence, in primary care, the recognition of those children and adolescents most at risk of suicide is a major task. Effective clinical assessment of previous and current medical, psychiatric and psychosocial functioning is recommended.^[27,121]

Children and adolescents will provide accurate information about their suicidal behavior if asked directly in a nonthreatening way.^[27,33,124,125] Evidence suggests that by age 8–9 years children understand the concept of suicide, and by the age of 12 years that death is permanent and final, and that psychosocial dynamics may lead to suicide.^[125]

The assessment of suicide risk is best undertaken by direct questioning of the young person's wish to die and the lethality of any plans. Multistage school-based case identification screening procedures have reportedly been effective in identifying youth at high risk for suicide.^[126-128] However, it seems that special efforts are needed in order to refer these identified high-risk individuals from school to appropriate clinical assessment and care.^[33] Psychometric screening tests seem not to be helpful for primary care clinicians in formulating their assessment of a young person's suicide risk.^[27] It has been recommended that primary care clinicians should be trained in recognizing risk factors for suicide. Collaboration with a psychiatrist and ensuring that adequate and appropriate treatment is given is essential.^[27,30,101]

3.2 Secondary Prevention

Data from the reviewed psychological autopsy studies on child and adolescent suicide indicate that psychiatric disorders (as discussed in section 2.2), particularly mood disorders, are among the most important risk factors. Recognition and effective treatment of these disorders are cornerstones in clinical prevention of youth suicides. During the past 2 decades, depressive disorders in children and adolescents have received attention as common, serious and incapacitating problems. There has been an increasing interest in developing efficacious psychosocial and biological treatments for youth experiencing these disorders. Opinions vary as to whether psychosocial or pharmacological interventions, or a combination of them, should be used as first-line treatment for youth with

Study	Individuals	Design	Interventions	Outcome in terms of treating depression
Lewinsohn et al. ^[132]	59 adolescent outpatients and volunteers with MDD (DSM-III) or minor depression (RDC), age 14–18y	Randomized controlled	CBT vs CBT and PT vs WL. 14 \times 2h group sessions, 7 parent sessions, duration 7wks	CBT > WL; CBT + PT > WL; CBT = CBT + PT
Reed ^[133]	18 adolescent volunteers with MDD or dysthymia (DSM-III-R), age 14–19y	Randomized	CBT vs AE, 6 group sessions, duration 12wks	CBT 'moderately successful', AE 'unsuccessful'
Vostanis & Harrington ^[134]	57 outpatients with depressive disorder (DSM-III-R), age 8–17y	Randomized controlled	CBT vs NFI, 9 sessions, duration 18wks	CBT = NFI
Wood et al. ^[135]	53 outpatients with MDD (DSM- III-R) or minor depression (RDC), age 9–17y	Randomized	CBT vs RT, 8 sessions, duration 8wks	CBT > RT post-test, NS at 6mo follow-up
Brent et al. ^[136]	107 adolescent outpatients and volunteers with MDD (DSM-III-R), age 13–18y	Randomized	CBT vs SBFT vs NST, 12–16 sessions, duration 12–16wks	CBT > NST; CBT > SBFT
Clarke et al. ^[137]	123 adolescent volunteers with MDD or dysthymia (DSM-III-R), age 14–18y	Randomized controlled	CBT vs CBT + PG vs WL, $16 \times 2h$ group sessions, 8 PG sessions, duration 8wks	CBT > WL; CBT + PT > WL; CBT = CBT + PG
Mufson et al.[138]	48 outpatients with MDD (DSM- III-R), age 12–18y	Randomized controlled	IPT-A vs CM, 12 sessions + 12 telephone contacts, duration 8wks	IPT-A > CM
Rossello & Bernal ^[139]	71 outpatients with MDD or dysthymia (DSM-III-R), age 13–17y	Randomized controlled	IPT-A vs CBT vs WL, 12 sessions, duration 12wks	IPT-A > WL; CBT > WL; IPT- A = CBT

Table V. Randomized comparative studies of the efficacy of psychosocial treatments in children and adolescents with depressive disorders

AE = art exercises; **CBT** = cognitive behavior therapy; **CM** = clinical monitoring; **DSM-III** = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Edition; **DSM-III-R** = Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Third Edition, Revised; **IPT-A** = interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed adolescents; **MDD** = major depressive disorder; **NFI** = nonfocused intervention; **NS** = not significant; **NST** = nondirective supportive therapy; **PT** = parent training; **RDC** = Research Diagnostic Criteria; **RT** = relaxation training; **SBFT** = systemic behavior family therapy; **WL** = waiting list; = indicates no difference between groups; > indicates statistically significant difference between groups.

depressive disorders.^[129,130] This section reviews research on the treatment of diagnosed depressive disorders among youth.

3.2.1 Psychosocial Treatment of Depressive Disorders

Several controlled studies have been published on psychosocial, mainly cognitive-behavioral psychotherapy (CBT), in children and adolescents with depressive symptoms (for a review see Harrington et al.^[131]). The results support the use of psychosocial interventions in these subsyndromal depressive youth. However, the findings may not be fully generalizable to youth diagnosed with depressive disorders. Table V summarizes the results of eight randomized trials of psychotherapy for children and adolescents with an appropriate diagnosis of depressive disorders. Seven of these trials have investigated the effectiveness of CBT, and two trials investigated interpersonal psychotherapy (IPT).

Cognitive-Behavioral Psychotherapy

Lewinsohn et al.^[132] studied the efficacy of two versions of group CBT in adolescent school students experiencing depressive

disorders. Fifty-nine individuals were randomly assigned to adolescent group CBT, adolescent CBT and parent training, or a waiting list control group. Those in both active treatment groups improved significantly more than controls, but no differences between the two treatment groups were found. Treatment gains were maintained at 2-year follow-up. The same group replicated their findings in a second trial using a sample of 123 depressed adolescents.^[137] The study design was basically similar: individuals were randomly allocated to two intervention groups and waiting list. The treatments were slightly modified, but one was only for adolescents and the other contained also parent groups. Again, the two CBT groups yielded higher depression recovery rates (67%) than the controls (48%), with no difference between the two active treatment groups. In this trial the researchers further assessed the effects of maintenance CBT during a 2-year follow up. The intervention group received booster sessions of CBT every 4 months. The booster sessions did not reduce rates of recurrence of depression during the 2-year follow-up but seemed to accelerate

recovery among individuals who were still depressed after the acute phase CBT.

Reed^[133] conducted a small study where 18 depressed adolescents were randomized either to cognitive-behavioral social skills training, called structural learning therapy, or to art and imagery exercises. Based on clinician's ratings, structural learning therapy was considered moderately successful whereas the control treatment was unsuccessful. Due to the small sample size and use of nonstandardized assessment of outcome, these results should be regarded as preliminary.

In a trial of clinically referred depressed children and adolescents, Vostanis and Harrington^[134] randomized 57 children and adolescents either to CBT or a relatively inactive control treatment called nonfocused intervention (NFI). After an average of six sessions, 87% of patients in the CBT group and 75% in the NFI group no longer had depression. The two treatment groups did not differ significantly on any clinical measure at the end of treatment. The relatively small sample and nonspecific supportive components of the NFI probably affected the results. Another explanation for the negative finding may be that nonspecific supportive therapy is helpful in youthful depression. The findings by Fine et al.^[140] that depressed adolescent outpatients in a supportive therapy group showed greater reductions in depression than those in a social skills training group support this view.

The effectiveness of brief individual CBT and relaxation training was studied among 53 outpatients with depressive disorders.^[135] The CBT intervention, containing a combination of cognitive, social problem solving and symptom-focused interventions, was associated with significant reductions in depressive symptoms and improvement in psychosocial functioning. Patients receiving CBT were also more likely to remit from depression than those in the control condition. Due to the high relapse rate in the CBT group, the differences between the two treatment groups were, however, no longer significantly different at 6-month follow-up.

Brent et al.^[136] conducted a sophisticated and methodologically rigorous trial of 107 adolescents with major depressive disorder (MDD), of whom 67% were referrals to an outpatient clinic. Individuals were randomly assigned to one of three treatment conditions: individual CBT, systemic behavioral family therapy, and nondirective supportive treatment. Individuals receiving CBT responded more rapidly and the treatment result was more complete than in the two other treatments.

Interpersonal Psychotherapy

The first controlled study on the efficacy of IPT in adolescent MDD was conducted by Mufson et al.^[138] In an 8-week trial of clinic-referred youths, they compared IPT for adolescents (IPT-A)

with clinical monitoring, and found that 75% of patients receiving IPT-A compared with 46% of control patients had recovered. Individuals receiving IPT-A also showed greater improvement in social functioning overall and with their friends, and specific

Further support for the efficacy of IPT in adolescent depression comes from the randomized controlled trial by Rossello and Bernal^[139] from Puerto Rico. They compared CBT, IPT, and a waiting list control condition among 71 adolescent outpatients with MDD or dysthymia. Using self-report scales as outcome measures, they found that both IPT and CBT significantly reduced depressive symptoms when compared with the waiting list condition. According to their findings, 82% of adolescents receiving IPT and 59% of those receiving CBT were functional after treatment, but the difference between the active treatments was not statistically significant.

Psychodynamic Psychotherapy

problem-solving skills.

There is a paucity of research evidence on the efficacy of psychodynamic psychotherapy in youthful depressive disorders. Target and Fonagy^[141] conducted a retrospective chart review of 352 child and adolescent outpatients with mixed diagnoses (99 with depressive disorders) who had received either psychoanalysis or intensive psychoanalytic therapy. The median length of therapy was 2 years. At the end of treatment, 40% of the patients with depression had no diagnosis and were functioning well, and in 62% a reliable improvement in psychosocial functioning was seen. Although many clinicians have found psychodynamic therapy useful in the treatment of depressive children and adolescents, there are no published controlled studies thus far to support this view.

3.2.2 Biological Treatment of Depressive Disorders

When the first drug studies for depressed children and adolescents were planned in the late 1970s and early 1980s, it was expected that antidepressant treatment would be efficacious in children and adolescents. This hypothesis was based on the similarity and continuity of depressive disorders across the life span.

Tricyclic Antidepressants

According to Hazell et al.,^[142] 15 double-blind randomized placebo-controlled studies on the efficacy of tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) in child and adolescent depression have been published, of which 12 were included in their meta-analysis. Most studies suggested a larger improvement in favor of the active medication compared with placebo, but the difference was statistically significant in only two. The meta-analysis did not show a clinically significant treatment effect for TCAs. However, in subgroup analysis, effect size estimates favored TCAs over placebo among adolescents but not among prepubertal children. The au-

thors concluded there is marginal evidence to support the use of TCAs in the treatment of depression in adolescents, but no evidence for their use in children.

It has been suggested that the seeming lack of efficacy of TCAs in child and adolescent depression may be due to maturational differences in neurotransmitter regulation. The noradrenergic system may not be fully functional until early adulthood, the adolescents' more efficient liver metabolism may limit the compounds' availability, and hormonal changes associated with puberty have been suspected to inhibit neurotransmitter activity.^[129] Significant adverse effects of the TCAs in children and adolescents, including cardiotoxic effects and marked toxicity in overdose, limit their use.^[143]

Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors

254

Several double-blind randomized placebo-controlled studies on the efficacy of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and other new antidepressants in child and adolescent depression are under way, but only four have been published thus far (table VI). Three studies report on the efficacy of SSRIs,^[144-146] two on fluoxetine and one on paroxetine, and one on the efficacy of venlafaxine, an agent that primarily inhibits both serotonin and norepinephrine (noradrenaline) reuptake at the synaptic cleft.^[147] Many additional nonblind reports on the newer antidepressants have been published (for a review, see Findling et al.^[148]). These medications have fewer adverse effects, only modest cardiovascular effects, and are less toxic in overdose than the TCAs.

The first double-blind study comparing an SSRI with placebo^[144] showed no significant drug effect. The authors reported that two-thirds of patients showed mild to moderate improvement with either fluoxetine or placebo. On all clinical measures except sleep disturbance, individuals receiving fluoxetine improved more, although the group differences were not statistically significant. The high placebo response and the small sample size (n = 40) probably explain the negative finding. Unfortunately, the limited reporting of study methodology and results hampers detailed reviewing of the study.

The other double-blind randomized placebo-controlled study on the efficacy of fluoxetine^[145] included 96 child and adolescent patients and found fluoxetine to be superior to placebo in the treatment of juvenile depression. However, complete remission of symptoms was rare. Another fluoxetine study using a historical case-control design^[149] reported fluoxetine to be more efficacious than imipramine in the treatment of severely depressed adolescent inpatients.

The recent multicenter trial by Keller et al.^[146] compared paroxetine with placebo and imipramine with placebo in 275 adolescents with major depression. On all observer-reported, but not on

Selective seroto	nin reuptake inhibitors			
Simeon et al. ^[144]	40 out- and inpatients with MDD (DSM- III) age 13–18y	Fluoxetine vs PL, duration 8wks	40-60	Fluoxetine = (>) PL
Emslie et al. ^[145]	96 outpatients with MDD (DSM-III-R), age 7–17y	Fluoxetine vs PL, duration 8wks	20	Fluoxetine > PL
Keller et al. ^[146]	275 adolescents with MDD (DSM-IV) age 12–18y	Paroxetine vs PL, imipramine vs PL, duration 8wks	Paroxetine 20–40; imipramine 200–300	Paroxetine > PL; imipramine = PL
Other new antid	spressants			
Mandoki et al. ^[147]	33 outpatients with MDD (DSM-IV), age 8–17y	Venlafaxine + CBT vs PL + CBT (6 CBT sessions), duration 6wks	8–12y, 37.5; 13-17y, 75	Venlafaxine + CBT = PL + CBT
CBT = cognitive Disorders, Third E difference betwee	behavior therapy; DSM-III = Diagnostic and dition, Revised; DSM-IV = Diagnostic and St n groups; (>) indicates statistically nonsignifi	Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Th atistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth I cant trend between groups; > indicates stat	hird Edition; DSM-III-R = Di Edition; MDD = major depres tistically significant difference	gnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental sive disorder; PL = placebo; = indicates no

Interventions

ndividuals

Study

Outcome in terms of treating

Daily dosage (mg)

depression

parent- and self-reported, outcome measures, paroxetine demonstrated significantly greater improvement compared with placebo. Interestingly, the response to imipramine was not significantly different from that to placebo. Paroxetine was better tolerated than imipramine. These findings further support the use of SSRIs rather than TCAs in child and adolescent MDD.

Other New Antidepressants

Only one double-blind randomized placebo-controlled trial has studied the efficacy of new antidepressants other than the SSRIs in major depression in children and adolescents. In the study by Mandoki et al.,^[147] depressed child and adolescent outpatients received a combination of CBT and either venlafaxine or placebo. Patients in both groups improved significantly but no statistically significant group differences were found. Possible explanations of the negative finding are a small sample size (n = 33), low dosage of venlafaxine, and concomitant active psychotherapy.

Mood Stabilizers and Electroconvulsive Therapy

Follow-up studies (reviewed by Geller and Luby^[150]) of child and adolescent major depression in clinical samples have shown a high risk of bipolar disorder. The only double-blind placebocontrolled study of lithium in adolescents with bipolar disorder and secondary substance use disorder^[151] found lithium to be efficacious for both disorders. Other mood stabilizers, such as valproate and carbamazepine, are also used in the treatment of bipolar disorders in the young, although their efficacy has yet to be demonstrated. Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) has shown efficacy in acute manic and depressive states among adults but its rigorous evaluation in adolescent bipolar disorder is lacking. According to Rey and Walter^[152] there were no controlled trials of ECT in children and adolescents. Based on a comprehensive review of open trials and case reports, the authors concluded that ECT in the young seems similar in effectiveness and adverse effects to ECT in adults.

3.2.3 Overview

Taken together, the above studies, as well as two recent metaanalyses,^[153,154] suggest that various psychosocial treatments, such as CBT and IPT, are useful and efficacious in the treatment of child and adolescent depression. Given the high rate of improvement also in the relatively 'inactive' control treatment groups, Harrington et al.^[153] suggest that there is a strong case for using brief supportive intervention as the first-line treatment of youthful depressive disorders.

It seems that TCAs should not be used as first-line medications due to the lack of evidence of their effectiveness in childhood depression, their toxicity in overdose, and the risk of serious adverse events. Studies on the effectiveness of SSRIs are limited in number but seem to support their use as first-line antidepressant medication in youthful depression. ECT also appears to be well tolerated and effective for severe and intractable depression and bipolar disorder in adolescence, although it continues to be rarely used. For children and adolescents with bipolar disorder, mood stabilizers should be preferred as first-line medications.

3.3 Tertiary Prevention

Studies reporting the treatment histories of young people who commit suicide have found that only a minority of young people who commit suicide have received psychiatric treatment. Even in individuals with a previous suicide attempt, less than half have been in psychiatric care.^[54,66] Furthermore, discontinuity of psychiatric care seems to characterize young suicides.^[155] Adolescents who have attempted suicide have an 8-fold increased risk for another attempt,^[156] and a previous suicide attempt is one of the strongest correlates of completed suicide among the young.^[157] Noncompliance in the treatment of adolescent suicide attempters is a remarkable problem.^[158] However, in the study by Pelkonen et al.,^[159] outpatient adolescents with suicidal behavior were less likely to discontinue treatment early compared with outpatients having behavior problems. According to Granboulan et al.,^[160] compliance with follow-up care was better among more severely impaired young people and when the follow-up appointment was scheduled before discharge.

Obviously, developing efficacious treatments for suicidal children and adolescents, and particularly treatment modalities for the aftercare of youthful suicide attempters, would offer possibilities for preventing suicides.

3.3.1 Psychosocial Treatment

Hawton et al.^[161] reviewed in their meta-analysis 23 trials, mostly in adult suicide attempters, and concluded that evidence is still lacking for the most effective forms of treatment of these patients. However, they found promising results for problemsolving therapy compared with standard care and for provision of an emergency contact card in addition to standard care compared with standard aftercare alone. Furthermore, dialectical behavior therapy (DBT) for female suicide attempters with borderline personality disorder showed promising results. DBT has been adapted for the treatment of suicidal adolescents. This modification of DBT is an intensive 12-week treatment consisting of a multifamily skills training group, individual therapy, and phone consultations when needed.^[162]

Limited evidence exists on the efficacy of psychosocial treatments in suicidal young people. Table VII summarizes the main results of eight comparative studies of suicidal youth. Deykin et al.^[163] conducted a nonrandomized 2-year intervention trial in a general hospital with another general hospital serving as a control Table VII. Comparative studies on the efficacy of psychosocial treatment of suicidal children and adolescents

Study	Individuals	Design	Interventions	Outcome
Deykin et al. ^[163]	379 suicidal adolescents seen in emergency room in two separate hospitals, age 13–17y	Nonrandomized	DS provision for at-risk adolescents + EC for human service workers for 172 individuals vs TAU for 147 controls Duration of intervention: NS Duration of study: 2y	DS + EC > TAU in increasing compliance and facilitating early help-seeking; DS + EC = (>) TAU in diminishing emergency room admissions for suicidality; DS + EC = TAU in reducing suicidal episodes
Lerner & Clum ^[164]	18 volunteering females with 'clinically significant' suicidal ideation, age 18–24y	Nonrandomized	PS for 9 individuals vs ST for 9 individuals, 10 group sessions, duration 5–7wks	PS = (>) ST post-test in reducing suicidal ideation; PS > ST in reducing hopelessness and depression
			Duration of intervention: 5–7wks Follow-up: 3mo	
Cotgrove et al. ^[165]	105 hospitalized suicide attempters age 12–16y (mean 14.9y)	Randomized	GC for 47 individuals vs TAU for 58 individuals Duration of intervention: NS	GC = (>) TAU in reducing suicide attempts during 1-year follow-up
			Duration of study: 3y Follow-up: 12mo	
Donaldson et al. ^[166]	101 adolescent suicide attempters from emergency department, age 12–18y	Nonrandomized	SPC + CE intervention for 23 individuals, SPC only for 78 historical comparison individuals Duration of intervention: 6wks Follow-up: 3–4mo	SPC + CE (>) SPC in reducing outpatient psychotherapy no-shows (9% vs 18%), in enhancing therapy attendance, in preventing reattempts (all trends)
Spirito et al. ^[167]	63 adolescent suicide attempters from emergency department, age 12–18y	Randomized	29 individuals attended CE group, 34 received SPC Duration of intervention: 8wks Follow-up: 3mo	CE > SPC in enhancing therapy attendance in 3mo follow-up after controlling for barriers to services in the community
Harrington et al. ^[168]	162 suicide attempters after hospitalization, age 10–16y	Randomized	TAU + home-based FI for 85 individuals, 5 family PS sessions, vs TAU for 77 comparison individuals Duration of intervention: 4wks Follow-up: 66mo	TAU + FI = TAU in reducing suicidal ideation during 2 and 6mo follow-up; TAU + FI > TAU among individuals with no depression
Rotheram-Borus et al. ^[169]	140 female hospitalized suicide attempters, age 12–18y	Nonrandomized	SERC including staff training, videotape viewing and crisis therapy session for 65 individuals vs ERC for 75 controls	SERC = (>) ERC in reducing reattempts; SERC > ERC in enhancing attendance in aftercare
			Duration of intervention: 1 session + 20min videotape viewing Follow-up: 18mo	SERC > ERC in reducing depression

Continued next page

Table VII. Contd				
Study	Individuals	Design	Interventions	Outcome
Wood et al.[170]	63 adolescents referred to mental	Randomized	32 individuals received DGP,	DGP + TAU (>) TAU in reducing further
	health services due to repeated		duration 6 sessions, thereafter	deliberate self-harm in 7mo follow-up; DGP +
	deliberate self-harm, age 12–16y		longer-term when needed, + TAU,	TAU > TAU in reducing further repeated
			31 comparison individuals TAU only	deliberate self-harm in 7mo follow-up
			Duration of intervention: 6wks	DGP + TAU = TAU in effect on depression,
			Follow-up: 7mo	suicidal thinking and global outcome
CE = compliance ent	iancement; DGP = developmental group psych	notherapy; DS = dire	ct service provision; EC = educational cur	riculum; ERC = standard emergency room care; FI
= family intervention;	GC = green card for readmission to hospital;	NS = not specified;	PS = problem-solving therapy; SERC = s	pecialized emergency room care; SPC = standard

psychiatric care; ST = supportive therapy; TAU = treatment as usual; = indicates no difference between groups; (>) indicates statistically nonsignificant trend between groups; >>

indicates statistically significant difference

site. The intervention consisted of provision of direct service for adolescents treated in the emergency room for suicidality and an educational curriculum directed at health and human service personnel, teachers, court personnel, and peer leaders in high and middle schools. Direct service was provided by a trained community social worker and aimed at supporting the at-risk adolescents as a primary resource, ensuring that the adolescents kept their follow-up appointments, and acting as an advocate for the adolescent. It further aimed at providing a liaison between the adolescent and the hospital and between the hospital and the community agencies, and at helping the adolescent use social supports available. The educational curriculum was designed to increase participants' knowledge of adolescent depression and suicidal behavior and to inform of community resources and the direct service program. Adolescents seen in the emergency room of the control hospital were offered treatment as usual. During the 2-year program, the intervention had a clear impact on increasing the individuals' compliance with medical recommendations. A slight, but statistically nonsignificant, reduction in emergency room admissions for suicidality was found at the intervention site. Unfortunately, no difference between the intervention and the control sites was found in episodes of self-destructive acts.

Lerner and Clum^[164] compared the effects of two group psychotherapies, cognitive-behavioral problem-solving and supportive therapy, in reducing clinically significant suicidal ideation among female late adolescent/young adult students. General improvement, decrease in depressive symptoms and hopelessness were significantly higher in the problem-solving group. Problemsolving was slightly more efficacious in reducing suicidal ideation, but the group difference was statistically nonsignificant. At 3-month follow-up, the gains were maintained.

Cotgrove et al.^[165] studied a novel method to reduce the incidence of further suicide attempts in a group of children and adolescents admitted to hospitals after an attempted suicide. During a 3-year recruitment period, on discharge from hospital, 105 youths were allocated randomly either to the intervention group or to the control group. The intervention group received a green card, which acted as a passport to immediate readmission into hospital whenever the individual felt suicidal. The control group received standard follow-up and treatment from their clinic or child psychiatry department. During the 1-year follow-up, the rate of reattempts in the control group was twice that of those with the green card, but due to low statistical power the difference was not statistically significant.

Donaldson et al.^[166] reported on the effects of structured disposition planning for adolescent suicide attempters and compared their experimental group (n = 23) with a historical comparison group of attempters receiving standard psychiatric evaluation (n = 78). Their intervention contained a 1-hour compliance enhancement intervention consisting of a review of expectations and possible concerns about therapy after the emergency room evaluation, confrontation of resistance toward therapy, contracting verbally minimum attendance to therapy, and providing the parents and the adolescent with information on different services. The patients and their parents were thereafter contacted by telephone at 1, 2, and 6 weeks after discharge. In the intervention group, there were fewer outpatient therapy no-shows, greater number of sessions attended, and less reattempts. Due to the small number of patients in the intervention group, none of the between-group differences were statistically significant. The research group later tested the efficacy of their intervention in a randomized trial of 63 individuals with complete data.^[167] The intervention was essentially the same as described in the first study. The intervention was essentially the same as that described in the first study, with telephone contact at 1, 2, 4, and 8 weeks after discharge. Control individuals received standard psychiatric care. At 3-month followup, after controlling for barriers to service in the community, individuals in the intervention group attended significantly more treatment sessions than those in the comparison group.

In the setting of children and adolescents who had taken overdoses and their families, a combination of treatment as usual and a brief home-based family intervention conducted by child psychiatric social workers was compared with treatment as usual by Harrington et al.^[168] The intervention program contained five sessions, was intensive, action orientated, and aimed to improve family functioning by focusing on communication and problemsolving. Patients (n = 162) from referrals to child mental health teams from hospital wards were randomized to the intervention group consisting of the family intervention plus routine care, and to the control group receiving routine care only. When assessed 2 and 6 months after recruitment, suicidal ideation and hopelessness had decreased markedly in both study groups, but no statistically significant between-group differences were found. However, in subgroup analyses, individuals without depression before treatment in the intervention group had much less suicidal ideation than the control group.

Recently, Rotheram-Borus et al.^[169] compared a specialized emergency room intervention and standard emergency room care in 140 female suicide attempters and followed them for 18 months. The specialized intervention consisted of routine aftercare plus staff training, videotape viewing, and one crisis therapy session. Staff training aimed to enhance positive patient interactions, reinforce the importance of outpatient aftercare, and recognize the seriousness of the suicide attempt. The aim of the videotape viewing was to instill realistic expectations regarding treatment, and that of the crisis therapy session to achieve an explicit contract of outpatient treatment and help the patient cope with suicidal feelings. During the follow-up, rates of suicide reattempts and suicidal ideation decreased similarly in both groups, but the specialized intervention was more efficacious in reducing depression. In addition, over 18 months, the specialized intervention was associated with greater attendance and completion of aftercare outpatient therapy.

A randomized trial compared developmental group psychotherapy and treatment as usual in the treatment of deliberate self-harm in adolescents referred to mental health services.^[170] The intervention comprised one assessment session and six 'acute' group sessions focusing on relationships, school problems and peer relationships, family problems, depression and self-harm, and hopelessness and feelings about the future. The acute phase was followed by weekly group therapy in a 'long-term group' continuing until the adolescent felt ready to leave. Treatment as usual comprised individual supportive sessions or supportive sessions with parents. In 7-month follow-up, adolescents in the intervention group tended to have fewer episodes of self-harm and had significantly less repeated episodes of self-harm. However, the intervention had no significant effect on depressive symptoms, suicidal thinking, or global outcome.

Two randomized controlled psychotherapy trials of depressed adolescents^[136,138] have reported changes in suicidality (see table V). Brent et al.^[136] found CBT to be the most efficacious treatment for adolescent depression in comparison with nondirective supportive therapy and systemic family therapy. Clinically significant suicidality decreased significantly during the 12–16-week treatment in all the studied psychotherapy modalities, but there were no significant differences between the treatments. In the study by Mufson et al.,^[138] IPT was more efficacious than clinical monitoring in alleviating depression, but no significant differences in reductions of suicidality between the treatments were found. However, in their study more individuals in the clinical monitoring condition were removed from the trial due to suicidality.

Research on adult suicide attempters and the above studies on children and adolescents suggest that different psychosocial treatment modalities may be useful in the treatment of suicidal youth. It seems that much of the change in suicidality across studies is attributable to nonspecific elements in different psychotherapy modalities. Clear research evidence in favor of one treatment over another is lacking. Obviously, larger trials of promising interventions are needed.

3.3.2 Biological Treatment

Research on the neurobiological correlates of suicide suggests that serotonergic activity may be reduced in individuals who commit suicide.^[171] Alterations in noradrenergic indices in individuals who commit suicide have also been reported, but the results are less consistent than those for the serotonergic system.^[172] Interestingly, the serotonergic correlations with suicide seem to be equally strong regardless of the psychiatric disorder the individual has had.^[171] These findings suggest that the serotonergic abnormality may be related to the predisposition to suicidal behavior, not only to the associated mental disorder (for a comprehensive review, see Mann & Stoff^[173]). This further suggests that treating patients with medications that increase serotonergic activity might reduce the risk for severe suicidal behavior.

In the meta-analysis of studies on mostly adult suicide attempters,^[161] no clear evidence was found that antidepressants were effective in preventing repetition of suicide attempts. However, in one study,^[174] subgroup analyses indicated a marked reduction in attempts in patients who received an SSRI and who had a history of one to four suicide attempts, compared with similar patients who received placebo. There was no indication of similar benefit among those patients with a history of five or more previous attempts. Significantly reduced rates of further self-harm were observed for depot flupenthixol versus placebo in multiple repeaters.^[175] Small sample sizes in most trials limit the generalizability of the results. There clearly is a need for large trials of interventions showing promise in published small trials.

To the best of the authors' knowledge, there are no rigorously designed controlled studies on the efficacy of psychopharmacologic interventions in reducing suicidal behavior in children and adolescents. Therefore, suggestions on the pharmacological treatment of suicidal youth are largely based on literature on suicidal adults. Choosing medication for suicidal youth depends on the psychiatric disorder associated with suicidal behavior. The efficacy and adverse effects of each drug need to be weighed. Although medications may be essential in stabilizing and treating the suicidal child and adolescent, all administration must be carefully monitored by a parent or other caregiver who can report any unexpected change of mood, increase in agitation or adverse effects and who may regulate dosage.^[30]

The SSRIs appear to be well tolerated in children and adolescents. The evidence on the efficacy of these medications in treating youthful depressive disorders is still preliminary, yet promising. None of the studies in table VI investigated specifically the efficacy of antidepressants in the treatment of suicidal youth. The most severely suicidal individuals were excluded from randomization, and the authors do not report changes in suicidal ideation of the studied individuals. Therefore, one has to be careful in drawing conclusions for the treatment of suicidal youth from those studies. On the other hand, it is plausible to expect a reduction in the risk of suicidal behavior when depressive disorders remit. Due to the limited evidence of the efficacy of TCAs, their unfavorable adverse-effect profile, and lethality in overdose, one should be very careful in prescribing TCAs to suicidal children and adolescents. SSRIs, due to their low lethal potential, are a first-

In a recent meta-analysis on suicide risk in major affective illness,^[176] suicide risk was lower during long-term treatment of major affective disorders with lithium compared with treatment without lithium. The authors also raised the possibility that lithium may decrease the risk of suicide by having a direct effect on aggressive or impulsive behavior, independent of its mood-stabilizing properties. It has been recommended that depressed suicidal children and adolescents with a history of bipolar disorder should first be treated with a mood stabilizer before receiving antidepressant medication.^[30]

choice medication compared with TCAs.[30]

3.4 Postvention

'Postvention' is the term used to refer to intervention after a suicide has occurred. After the suicide of a child or adolescent, crisis intervention among the survivors, e.g. at school, has been commonly recommended.^[30,33] Reportedly, friends of individuals who commit suicide are at risk for developing depression, posttraumatic stress disorder and complicated grief reactions.^[177-179] Systematic evaluation of community postventive crisis interventions have not been published thus far. Preliminary findings have reported that, following a suicide, the number of suicides during the year after the suicide increased beyond chance in schools without adequate postventive crisis interventions.^[177]

4. Conclusions

Suicide rates increase greatly among adolescents with increasing age. Suicide is one of the commonest causes of death among adolescents. Youth suicide is a major public health concern worldwide, although the rates of suicides vary between countries. Hence, prevention of suicide in young people is highly important. In order to be successful, youth suicide prevention cannot be restricted to, for example, psychiatric care, but action needs to be taken at different levels of society. The consistent finding that less than half of adolescent suicides have received psychiatric care suggests that broad prevention strategies are needed in healthcare and social services. It has been recommended that primary care clinicians be trained in recognizing youth at risk for suicide. Information on the strong association of psychopathology and suicides should be provided for healthcare professionals. Active screening and direct questioning on suicide-spectrum behavior by healthcare practitioners should be encouraged, because young 260

people do not always communicate their suicidal thoughts with adults. Although many suicidal adolescents confide their suicidal thoughts only to peers,^[44,66] young people should be encouraged to turn to adults whenever their friends communicate suicidal ideas. All expressions of suicide intent have to be taken seriously, and indicate a need for assessment of the adolescent's development and life circumstances.

The main target of effective prevention of youthful suicides is to reduce suicide risk factors. Psychiatric morbidity, particularly mood disorders, antisocial disorders and substance abuse, are strongly related with youth suicide. Therefore, recognition and effective treatment of these disorders are of utmost importance in the clinical prevention of child and adolescent suicides. In the treatment of child and adolescent depression, psychosocial treatments have proved to be useful and efficacious. Although studies on the effectiveness of SSRIs are limited in number, evidence supports their use as first-line antidepressant medication in depression in children and adolescents.

The limited evidence suggests that different treatment modalities are useful in the treatment of suicidal youth. It seems that much of the improvement in suicidal ideation or decrease in suicide attempts is attributable to nonspecific elements in treatment. For high-risk youth, providing continuity of care is a challenge, since they are often noncompliant and commonly 'drop out' or terminate their treatment prematurely. Preventive and treatment efforts targeted at high-risk young people may be seen as useful not only in prevention of suicides but also in producing subsequent psychosocial well-being later in life.

Acknowledgements

Preparation of this manuscript was supported by the Yrjö Jahnsson Foundation and Peijas Hospital. The authors have no conflicts of interest that are directly relevant to the content of this manuscript.

References

- 1. Statistics Finland. Causes of death 2000. Helsinki: Statistics Finland, 2002
- WHO Statistical Information System. WHO, 2001 [online]. Available from URL: http://www.who.int/whosis [Accessed 2003 Mar 5]
- McClure GMG. Suicide in children and adolescents in England and Wales 1970-1998. Br J Psychiatry 2001; 178: 469-74
- Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR, et al. Gender differences in suicide attempts from adolescence to young adulthood. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001; 40: 427-34
- Fleming JE, Offord DR. Epidemiology of childhood depressive disorders: a critical review. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1990; 29: 571-80
- McGee R, Feehan M, Williams S, et al. DSM-III disorders from age 11 to age 15 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1992; 31: 50-9
- Shaffer D, Garland A, Vieland V, et al. The impact of curriculum-based suicide prevention, programs for teenagers. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1991; 30: 588-96
- Brent DA, Perper J, Moritz G, et al. Psychiatric risk factors for adolescent suicide: a case control study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1993; 32: 521-9

- Shafii M, Steltz-Lenarsky J, Derrick AM, et al. Comorbidity of mental disorders in the post-mortem diagnosis of completed suicide in children and adolescents. J Affect Disord 1988; 15: 277-83
- Marttunen M, Aro H, Henriksson M, et al. Mental disorder in adolescent suicide: DSM-III-R axes I and II among 13 to 19 year olds in Finland. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1991; 48: 834-9
- Rich CL, Young D, Fowler RC. San Diego suicide study I: young vs old subjects. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1986; 43: 577-82
- De Wilde EJ. Adolescent suicidal behaviour: a general population perspective. In: Hawton K, van Heeringen K, editors. The international handbook of suicide and attempted suicide. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2000: 249-73
- Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR. Treatment of adolescent depression: frequency of services and impact on functioning in young adulthood. Depress Anxiety 1998; 7: 47-52
- Flament MF, Cohen D, Choquet M, et al. Phenomenology, psychosocial correlates and treatment seeking in major depression and dysthymia of adolescence. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001; 40: 1070-8
- Shaffer D, Gould MS, Fisher P, et al. Psychiatric diagnosis in child and adolescent suicide. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53: 339-48
- Appleby L, Cooper J, Amos T, et al. Psychological autopsy of suicides by people under 35. Br J Psychiatry 1999; 175: 168-74
- Shaffer D, Fisher P. The epidemiology of suicide in children and adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1981; 20: 545-65
- Shaffer D. Suicide in childhood and adolescence. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1974; 15: 275-91
- Aro H, Marttunen M, Lönnqvist J. Adolescent development and youth suicide. Suicide Life Threat Behav 1993; 23: 359-65
- Brent DA, Moritz G. Developmental pathways to adolescent suicide. In: Cicchetti D, Toth SL, editors. Adolescence: opportunities and challenges. Rochester symposium on developmental psychopathology. Vol. 7. New York: University of Rochester Press, 1996: 233-58.
- Angold A, Costello EJ, Worthman CM. Puberty and depression: the roles of age, pubertal status and pubertal timing. Psychol Med 1998; 28: 51-61
- Cicchetti D, Toth SL. The development of depression in children and adolescents. Am Psychol 1998; 53: 221-41
- Harrington R, Rutter M, Fombonne E. Developmental pathways in depression: multiple meanings, antecedents and endpoints. Dev Psychopathol 1996; 8: 601-16
- Rao U, Weissman MM, Martin JA, et al. Childhood depression and risk of suicide: a preliminary report of a longitudinal study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1993; 32: 21-7
- Fergusson DM, Woodward LJ, Horwood LJ. Risk factors and life processes associated with the onset of suicidal behaviour during adolescence and early adulthood. Psychol Med 2000; 30: 23-39
- Deavoll BJ, Mulder RT, Beautrais AL, et al. One hundred years of suicide in New Zealand. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1993; 87: 81-5
- Hider P. Youth suicide prevention by primary healthcare professionals: a critical appraisal of the literature. NZHTA report. Christchurch: Christchurch School of Medicine, 1998: 4
- 28. Värnik A. Suicide in Estonia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1991; 84: 229-32
- Allebeck P, Brandt L, Nordström P, et al. Are suicide trends among the young reversing: age, period and cohort analyses of suicide rates in Sweden. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1996; 93: 3-48
- American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. Practice parameter for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with suicidal behavior. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001; 40 Suppl. 7: 24-51S
- Brent DA, Baugher M, Bridge J, et al. Age- and sex-related risk factors for adolescent suicide. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999; 38: 1497-505
- Lönnqvist J. Suicide mortality in Finland declined by 21% from 1990 to 1998 [editorial]. Psychiatr Fenn 2000; 31: 5
- Gould MS, Kramer RA. Youth suicide prevention. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2001; 31 Suppl. 1: 6-31
- 34. Cheng ATA, Lee C-S. Suicide in Asia and the Far East. In: Hawton K, van Heeringen K, editors. The international handbook of suicide and attempted suicide. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2000: 29-48

- 35. Pritchard C. Suicide in the People's Republic of China categorized by age and gender: evidence of the influence of culture on suicide. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1996; 93: 362-7
- Värnik A, Wasserman D. Suicides in the former Soviet republics. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1992; 86: 76-8
- Ramstedt M. Alcohol and suicide in 14 European countries. Addiction 2001; 96 Suppl. 1: S59-75
- Cantor CH. Suicide in the western world. In: Hawton K, van Heeringen K, editors. The international handbook of suicide and attempted suicide. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2000: 9-28
- Hawton K, Appleby L, Platt S, et al. The psychological autopsy approach to studying suicide: a review of methodological issues. J Affect Disord 1998; 50: 269-76
- Marttunen M, Aro H, Lönnqvist J. Research on mental disorders in adolescent suicide. In: Crepet P, Ferrari G, Platt S, et al., editors. Suicidal behaviour in Europe: recent research findings. Rome: John Libbey CIC, 1992: 253-9
- Kelly TM, Mann JJ. Validity of DSM-III-R diagnosis by psychological autopsy: a comparison with clinician ante-mortem diagnosis. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1996; 94: 337-43
- Gould MS, Shaffer D, Fisher P, et al. The clinical prediction of suicide. In: Maris RW, Berman AL, Maltsberger JT, et al., editors. Assessment and prediction of suicide. New York: Guilford, 1992: 130-43
- 43. Brent DA. Risk factors for adolescent suicide and suicidal behavior: mental and substance abuse disorders, family environmental factors, and life stress. Suicide Life Threat Behav 1995; 25: 52-63
- Brent DA, Perper JA, Goldstein CE, et al. Risk factors for adolescent suicide: a comparison of adolescent suicide victims with suicidal inpatients. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1988; 45: 581-8
- Shafii M, Carrigan S, Whittinghill JR, et al. Psychological autopsy of completed suicide in children and adolescents. Am J Psychiatry 1985; 142: 1061-4
- Brent DA, Perper JA, Moritz G, et al. Familial risk factors for adolescent suicide: a case-control study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1994; 89: 52-8
- Apter A, Bleich A, King RA, et al. Death without warning: a clinical postmortem study of suicide in 43 Israeli adolescent males. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1993; 50: 138-42
- Nylander I. A 20-year prospective follow-up study of 2164 cases in the childguidance clinics in Stockholm. Acta Paediatr Scand 1979; Suppl. 276: 179-276
- de Chateau P. Mortality and aggressiveness in a 30-year follow-up study in child guidance clinics in Stockholm. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1990; 82: 472-6
- Rydelius P-A. Deaths among child and adolescent psychiatric patients. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1984; 70: 119-26
- Enqvist U, Rydelius P-A. Hur går det för barn- och ungdomspsykiatrins patienter. Samverkan krävs mellan pediatrik, barn- och vuxen psykiatri. Läkartidningen 2000; 97: 2856-61
- Pelkonen M, Marttunen M, Pulkkinen E, et al. Excess mortality among former adolescent male outpatients. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1996; 94: 60-6
- Gould MS, Fisher P, Parides M, et al. Psychosocial risk factors of child and adolescent completed suicide. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53: 1155-62
- Groholt B, Ekeberg O, Wichstom L, et al. Youth suicide in Norway, 1990-1992: a comparison between children and adolescents completing suicide and age- and gender-matched controls. Suicide Life Threat Behav 1997; 27: 250-63
- Brent DA, Bridge J, Johnson BA, et al. Suicidal behavior runs in families: a controlled family study of adolescent suicide victims. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1996; 53: 1145-52
- Marttunen M, Aro H, Henriksson M, et al. Antisocial behaviour in adolescent suicide. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1994; 89: 167-73
- Lesage AD, Boyer R, Grunberg F, et al. Suicide and mental disorders: a casecontrol study of young men. Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151: 1063-8
- Marttunen M, Pelkonen M. Psychiatric risk factors for adolescent suicide: a review. Psychiatr Fenn 2000; 31: 110-25
- Marttunen M, Henriksson M, Aro H, et al. Suicide among female adolescents: characteristics and comparison with males in the age group 13 to 22 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1995; 34: 1297-307
- Pirkola SP, Marttunen MJ, Henriksoon MM, et al. Alcohol-related problems among adolescent suicides in Finland. Alcohol Alcohol 1999; 34: 320-9
- Isometsä E, Henriksson M, Marttunen M, et al. Mental disorders in young adult and middle-aged men who commit suicide. BMJ 1995; 310: 1366-7

- Runeson B. Mental disorders in youth suicide: DSM-III-R axes I and II. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1989; 79: 490-7
- Renaud J, Brent DA, Birmaher B, et al. Suicide in adolescents with disruptive disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999; 38: 846-51
- Thompson TR. Childhood and adolescent suicide in Manitoba: a demographic study. Can J Psychiatry 1986; 32: 264-9
- Runeson B. Psychoactive substance use disorder in youth suicide. Alcohol Alcohol 1990; 25: 561-8
- Marttunen M, Aro H, Lönnqvist J. Adolescent suicide: endpoint of long-term difficulties. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1992; 31: 649-54
- Nylander I, Hellström LH, Möllerström K. Mortality among boys reported to the Stockholm child and youth welfare committee. Acta Paedopsychiatr 1966; 33: 315-21
- Pelkonen M. Inpatient psychiatric adolescents function better than expected after discharge: a follow-up study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1990; 81: 317-21
- Welner A, Welner Z, Fishman R. Psychiatric adolescent inpatients: eight- to tenyear follow-up. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1979; 36: 698-700
- Goldacre M, Hawton K. Repetition of self-poisoning and subsequent death in adolescents who take overdoses. Br J Psychiatry 1985; 146: 395-8
- Otto U. Suicidal acts by children and adolescents: a follow-up study. Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl 1972; 233: 7-123
- Rorsman B. Mortality among psychiatric patients. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1974; 50: 354-75
- Motto JA. Suicide in male adolescents. In: Sudak HS, Ford AB, Rushforth NB, editors. Suicide in the young. Boston (MA): John Wright, 1984: 227-44
- Kuperman S, Black DW, Burns TL. Excess mortality among formerly hospitalized child psychiatric patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1988; 45: 277-82
- Larsen FW. A 30-year follow-up study of a child psychiatric clientele: II, psychiatric morbidity. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1991; 84: 65-71
- Kjelsberg E, Neegaard E, Dahl AA. Suicide in adolescent psychiatric inpatients: incidence and predictive factors. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1994; 89: 235-41
- Kjelsberg E, Sandvik L, Dahl AA. A long-term follow-up study of adolescent psychiatric inpatients: Part I, predictors of early death. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1999; 99: 231-6
- Sellar C, Hawton K, Goldacre M. Self-poisoning in adolescents: hospital admissions and deaths in the Oxford region 1980-85. Br J Psychiatry 1990; 156: 866-70
- Kotila L, Lönnqvist J. Suicide and violent death among adolescent suicide attempters. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1989; 79: 453-9
- Hawton K, Fagg J, Platt S, et al. Factors associated with suicide after parasuicide in young people. BMJ 1993; 306: 1641-4
- Granboulan V, Rabain D, Basquin M. The outcome of adolescent suicide attempts. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1995; 91: 265-70
- Laurent A, Foussard N, David M, et al. A 5-year follow-up study of suicide attempts among French adolescents. J Adolesc Health 1998; 22: 424-30
- Allebeck P, Allgulander C, Fisher LD. Predictors of completed suicide in a cohort of 50465 young men: role of personality and deviant behaviour. BMJ 1988; 297: 176-8
- Groholt B, Ekeberg O, Wichstom L, et al. Suicide among children and younger and older adolescents in Norway: a comparative study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998; 37: 473-81
- 85. Beautrais AL. Risk factors for suicide and attempted suicide among young people. In: National Youth Suicide Prevention Strategy: setting the evidence-based research agenda for Australia. Canberra: Department of Health and Aged Care, Commonwealth of Australia, 1999: 113-278
- Schmidtke A, Bille-Brahe U, DeLeo D, et al. Attempted suicide in Europe: rates, trends and sociodemographic characteristics of suicide attempters during the period 1989-1992. Results of the WHO/EURO Multicentre Study on Parasuicide. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1996; 93: 327-38
- Joffe RT, Offord DR, Boyle MH. Ontario Child Health Study: suicidal behavior in youth age 12-16 years. Am J Psychiatry 1988; 145: 1420-3
- Reinherz HZ, Giaconia RM, Silverman AB, et al. Early psychosocial risks for adolescent suicidal ideation and attempts. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1995; 34: 599-611
- Fergusson DM, Lynskey MT. Childhood circumstances, adolescent adjustment and suicide attempts in a New Zealand birth cohort. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1995; 34: 612-22

- Beautrais AL, Joyce PR, Mulder RT. Risk factors for serious suicide attempts among youths aged 13 through 24 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1996; 35: 1174-82
- Beautrais AL, Joyce PR, Mulder RT. Youth suicide attempts: a social and demographic profile. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 1998; 32: 349-57
- Wichstrom L. Predictors of adolescent suicide attempts: a nationally representative longitudinal study of Norwegian adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2000; 39: 603-10
- Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR. Psychosocial risk factors for future adolescent suicide attempts. J Consult Clin Psychol 1994; 62: 297-305
- Potter LB, Kresnow M, Powell KE, et al. The influence of geographic mobility on nearly lethal suicide attempts. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2001; 32 (1 Suppl.): 42-8
- Garnefski N, Arends E. Sexual abuse and adolescent maladjustment: difference between male and female victims. J Adolesc 1998; 21: 99-107
- 96. Gould MS, King R, Greenwald S, et al. Psychopathology associated with suicidal ideation and attempts among children and adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998; 37: 915-23
- Kingsbury S, Hawton K, Steinhardt K, et al. Do adolescents who take overdoses have specific psychological characteristics: a comparative study with psychiatric and community controls. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999; 38: 1125-31
- Groholt B, Ekeberg O, Wichstrom L, et al. Young suicide attempters: a comparison between a clinical and an epidemiological sample. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2000; 39: 868-75
- Pelkonen M, Marttunen M, Pulkinen E, et al. Characteristics of outpatient adolescents with suicidal tendencies. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1997; 95: 100-7
- 100. Patton G, Burns J. Preventive interventions for youth suicide: a risk factor-based approach. In: National Youth Suicide Prevention Strategy: setting the evidencebased research agenda for Australia. Canberra: Department of Health and Aged Care, 1999: 279-391
- WHO. Preventing suicide. A resource for general physicians: mental and behavioural disorders. Geneva: Department of Mental Health, World Health Organization, 2000
- Taylor SJ, Kingdom D, Jenkins R. How are nations trying to prevent suicide: an analysis of national suicide prevention strategies. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1997; 95: 457-63
- 103. Upanne M, Hakanen J, Rautava M. Can suicide be prevented: the suicide project in Finland 1992-1996. Goals, implementation and evaluation. Saarijärvi: National Research and Development Centre for Welfare and Health, 1999
- 104. Jenkins R, Singh B. General population strategies of suicide prevention. In: Hawton K, van Heeringen K, editors. The international handbook of suicide and attempted suicide. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd, 2000: 597-615
- 105. King KA. Developing a comprehensive school suicide prevention program. J Sch Health 2001; 71: 132-7
- Berman AL, Jobes DA. Suicide prevention in adolescents (age 12-18). Suicide Life Threat Behav 1995; 25: 143-54
- 107. Vieland V, Whittle B, Garland A, et al. The impact of curriculum-based suicide prevention programs for teenagers: an 18-month follow-up. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1991; 30: 811-5
- Shaffer D, Craft L. Methods of adolescent suicide prevention. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60 Suppl. 2: 70-4
- Shaffer D, Vieland V, Garland A, et al. Adolescent suicide attempters: response to suicide-prevention programs. JAMA 1990; 264: 3151-5
- 110. Offer D, Howard KI, Schonert KA, et al. To whom do adolescents turn for help: differences between disturbed and nondisturbed adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1991; 30: 623-30
- 111. Johnson GR, Krug EG, Potter LB. Suicide among adolescents and young adults: a cross-national comparison of 34 countries. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2000; 30: 74-82
- Brent DA. Correlates of the medical lethality of suicide attempts in children and adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1987; 26: 87-9
- Carrington PJ, Moyer S. Gun control and suicide in Ontario. Am J Psychiatry 1994; 151: 606-8
- Rich CL, Young JG, Fowler RC, et al. Guns and suicide: possible effects of some specific legislation. Am J Psychiatry 1990; 147: 342-6

- 115. Kruesi MJ, Grossman J, Pennington JM, et al. Suicide and violence prevention: parent education in the emergency department. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999; 38: 250-5
- 116. Gunnell D, Murray V, Hawton K. Use of paracetamol (acetaminophen) for suicide and nonfatal poisoning: worldwide patterns of use and misuse. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2000; 30: 313-26
- 117. Ohberg A, Lonnqvist J, Sarna S, et al. Violent methods associated with high suicide mortality among the young. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1996; 35: 144-53
- Beautrais AL. Methods of youth suicide in New Zealand: trends and implications for prevention. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2000; 34: 413-9
- Gould MS, Wallenstein S, Kleinman M, et al. Suicide clusters: an examination of age-specific effects. Am J Public Health 1990; 80: 211-2
- Poijula S, Walhberg K-E, Dyregrov A. Adolescent suicide and suicide contagion in three secondary schools. Int J Emerg Ment Health 2001; 3: 169-75
- 121. Appleby L, Amos T, Doyle U, et al. General practitioners and young suicides: a preventive role for primary care. Br J Psychiatry 1996; 168: 330-3
- 122. Isometsä E, Heikkinen M, Marttunen M, et al. The last appointment before suicide: is suicidal intent communicated. Am J Psychiatry 1995; 152: 919-22
- 123. Barnes LS, Ikeda RM, Kresnow M. Help-seeking behavior prior to nearly lethal suicide attempts. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2001; 32 (1 Suppl.): 68-75
- 124. Jacobsen LK, Rabinowitz I, Popper MS, et al. Interviewing prepubertal children about suicidal ideation and behavior. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1994; 33: 439-52
- 125. Mishara BL. Conceptions of death and suicide in children ages 6-12 and their implications for suicide prevention. Suicide Life Threat Behav 1999; 29: 105-18
- Reynolds WM. A school-based procedure for the identification of adolescents at risk for suicidal behaviors. Fam Community Health 1991; 14: 64-75
- 127. Thompson EA, Eggert LL. Using the suicide risk screen to identify suicidal adolescents among potential high school dropouts. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999; 38: 1506-14
- Shaffer D, Craft L. Methods of adolescent suicide prevention. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60 Suppl. 2: 70-4
- Birmaher B, Ryan ND, Williamson DE, et al. Childhood and adolescent depression: a review of the past 10 years: part II. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1996; 35: 1575-83
- 130. American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. Practice parameters for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with depressive disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998; 37 Suppl. 10: 63-83S
- Harrington R, Whittaker J, Shoebridge P. Psychological treatment of depression in children and adolescents: a review of treatment research. Br J Psychiatry 1998; 173: 291-8
- Lewinsohn PM, Clarke GN, Hops H, et al. Cognitive-behavioral treatment for depressed adolescents. Behav Ther 1990; 21: 385-401
- Reed MK. Social skills training to reduce depression in adolescents. Adolescence 1994; 29: 293-302
- 134. Vostanis P, Harrington R. Cognitive-behavioural treatment of depressive disorder in child psychiatric patients: rationale and description of treatment package. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1994; 3: 111-23
- Wood A, Harrington R, Moore A. Controlled trial of a brief cognitive-behavioural intervention in adolescent patients with depressive disorders. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 1996; 37: 737-46
- Brent DA, Holder D, Kolko D, et al. A clinical psychotherapy trial for adolescent depression comparing cognitive, family, and supportive therapy. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997; 54: 877-85
- 137. Clarke GN, Rohde P, Lewinsohn PM, et al. Cognitive-behavioral treatment of adolescent depression: efficacy of acute group treatment and booster sessions. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999; 38: 272-9
- Mufson L, Weissman MM, Moreau D, et al. Efficacy of interpersonal psychotherapy for depressed adolescents. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1999; 56: 573-9
- Rossello J, Bernal G. The efficacy of cognitive-behavioral and interpersonal treatments for depression in Puerto Rican adolescents. J Consult Clin Psychol 1999; 67: 734-45
- 140. Fine S, Forth A, Gilbert M, et al. Group therapy for adolescent depressive disorder: a comparison of social skills and therapeutic support. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1991; 30: 79-85

- Target M, Fonagy P. Efficacy of psychoanalysis for children with emotional disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1994; 33: 361-71
- 142. Hazell P, O'Connell D, Heathcote D, et al. Tricyclic drugs for depression in children and adolescents [review]. Available in The Cochrane Library [database on CD ROM]. Updated quarterly. The Cochrane Collaboration; issue 1. Oxford: Update Software, 2001
- Renaud J, Axelson D, Birmaher B. A risk-benefit assessment of pharmacotherapies for clinical depression in children and adolescents. Drug Saf 1999; 20: 59-75
- 144. Simeon J, Dinicola V, Ferguson H, et al. Adolescent depression: a placebo controlled fluoxetine treatment study and follow-up. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 1990; 14: 791-5
- 145. Emslie GJ, Rush J, Weinberg WA, et al. A double-blind randomized placebocontrolled trial of fluoxetine in children and adolescents with depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 1997; 54: 1031-7
- 146. Keller MB, Ryan ND, Strober M, et al. Efficacy of paroxetine in the treatment of adolescent major depression: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001; 40: 762-72
- 147. Mandoki MW, Tapia MR, Tapia MA, et al. Venlafaxine in the treatment of children and adolescents with major depression. Psychopharmacol Bull 1997; 33: 149-54
- 148. Findling RL, Reed MD, Blumer JL. Pharmacological treatment of depression in children and adolescents. Paediatr Drugs 1999; 1: 161-82
- 149. Strober M, DeAntonio M, Schmidt-Lackner S, et al. The pharmacotherapy of depressive illness in adolescents: an open-label comparison of fluoxetine with imipramine- treated historical controls. J Clin Psychiatry 1999; 60: 164-9
- 150. Geller B, Luby J. Child and adolescent bipolar disorder: a review of the past 10 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1997; 36: 1168-76
- 151. Geller B, Cooper TB, Sun K. Double-blind and placebo-controlled study of lithium for adolescent bipolar disorders with secondary substance dependency. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998; 37: 171-8
- Rey JM, Walter G. Half a century of ECT use in young people: a review. Am J Psychiatry 1997; 154: 595-602
- Harrington R, Whittaker J, Shoebridge P, et al. Systematic review of efficacy of cognitive behaviour therapies in childhood and adolescent depressive disorder. BMJ 1998; 316: 1559-63
- 154. Reinecke MA, Ryan NE, DuBois DL. Cognitive-behavioral therapy of depression and depressive symptoms during adolescence: a review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998; 37: 26-34
- Hulten A, Wasserman D. Lack of continuity: a problem in the care of young suicides. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1998; 97: 326-33
- 156. Lewinsohn P, Rohde P, Seeley JR. Psychosocial characteristics of adolescents with a history of suicide attempt. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1993; 32: 60-8
- Marttunen M, Aro H, Lönnqvist J. Adolescence and suicide: a review of psychological autopsy studies. Eur J Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1993; 2: 10-8
- Piacentini J, Rotheram-Borus MJ, Gillis JR, et al. Demographic predictors of treatment attendance among adolescent suicide attempters. J Consult Clin Psychol 1995; 63: 469-73
- Pelkonen M, Marttunen M, Laippala P, et al. Factors associated with early dropout from adolescent psychiatric outpatient treatment. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2000; 39: 329-36
- 160. Granboulan V, Roudot-Thoraval F, Lemerle S, et al. Predictive factors of postdischarge follow-up care among adolescent suicide attempters. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2001; 104: 31-6
- 161. Hawton K, Townsend E, Arensman E, et al. Psychosocial and pharmacological treatments for deliberate self harm. Available in the Cochrane Library [database

on CD ROM]. Updated quarterly. The Cochrane Collaboration; issue 1. Oxford: Update Software, 2001

- Miller AL, Rathus JH, Linehan MM, et al. Dialectical behavior therapy adapted for suicidal adolescents. J Pract Psychiatry Behav Health 1997; 3: 78-86
- 163. Deykin EY, Hsieh C-C, Joshi N, et al. Adolescent suicidal and self-destructive behavior: results of an intervention study. J Adolesc Health Care 1986; 7: 88-95
- Lerner MS, Clum GA. Treatment of suicide ideators: a problem-solving approach. Behav Ther 1990; 21: 403-11
- 165. Cotgrove AJ, Zirinsky L, Black D, et al. Secondary prevention of attempted suicide in adolescence. J Adolesc 1995; 18: 569-77
- 166. Donaldson D, Spirito A, Arrigan M, et al. Structured disposition planning for adolescent suicide attempters in a general hospital: preliminary findings on short-term outcome. Arch Suicide Res 1997; 3: 271-82
- 167. Spirito A, Boergers J, Donaldson D, et al. An intervention trial to improve adherence to community treatment by adolescents after a suicide attempt. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2002; 41: 435-42
- 168. Harrington R, Kerfoot M, Dyer E, et al. Randomized trial of a home-based family intervention for children who have deliberately poisoned themselves. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1998; 37: 512-8
- 169. Rotheram-Borus MJ, Piacentini J, Cantwell C, et al. The 18-month impact of an emergency room intervention for adolescent female suicide attempters. J Consult Clin Psychol 2000; 68: 1081-93
- Wood A, Trainor G, Rothwell J, et al. Randomised trial of group therapy for repeated deliberate self-harm in adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2001; 40: 1246-53
- 171. Mann JJ. The neurobiology of suicide. Nat Med 1998; 4: 25-30
- 172. Mann JJ, Underwood MD, Arango V. Postmortem studies of suicide victims. In: SJ Watson, editor. Biology of schizophrenia and affective disease. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press Inc, 1996: 197-220
- 173. Mann JJ, Stoff DM. A synthesis of current findings regarding neurobiological correlates and treatment of suicidal behavior. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1997; 836: 352-63
- 174. Verkes RJ, van der Mast RC, Hengeveld MW, et al. Reduction by paroxetine of suicidal behavior in patients with repeated suicide attempts but not major depression. Am J Psychiatry 1998; 155: 543-7
- Montgomery SA, Roy D, Montgomery DB. The prevention of recurrent suicidal acts. Br J Clin Pharmacol 1983; 15: 183-188S
- 176. Tondo L, Hennen J, Baldessarini RJ. Lower suicide risk with long-term lithium treatment in major affective illness: a meta-analysis. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2001; 104: 163-72
- Poijula S, Dyregrov A, Wahlberg KE, et al. Reactions to adolescent suicide and crisis intervention in three secondary schools. Int J Emerg Ment Health 2001; 3: 97-106
- 178. Brent DA, Perper JA, Moritz G, et al. Major depression or uncomplicated bereavement: a follow-up of youth exposed to suicide. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1994; 33: 231-9
- 179. Brent DA, Moritz G, Bridge J, et al. Long-term impact of exposure to suicide: a three-year controlled follow-up. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1996; 35: 646-5

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Mirjami Pelkonen*, Department of Mental Health and Alcohol Research, National Public Health Institute, Mannerheimintie 166, Helsinki, FIN-00300, Finland. E-mail: mirjami.pelkonen@ktl.fi